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UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MAINE

JAMES McINNIS, SR., et al., )
)
Plaintiffs )
)
V. ) CivilNo. 08-408-P-H
) REDACTED VERSION
STATE OF MAINE, et al., )
)
Defendants )

AMENDED? RECOMMENDED DECISION ON MOTIONS FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT
AND MEMORANDUM DECISION ON MOTIONS TO AMEND AND TO STRIKE

In this action alleging illegal search aatest, brought pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983 and
pendent state claims, all defenddntgve moved for summary judgment on all claims. The
motions are brought by two groups. The first graxgmposed of the State of Maine, Michael
Cantara, Roy McKinney, William Deetjen, StephRarst, Craig Anderson, Philip Alexander,
and Scott Rochefort, will be referred to as Htate defendants, ana tbecond group, composed
of York County, Maurice Ouellette, and Kennetht¢tg as the county defendants. Pursuant to
Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(b), the state defendants ha@erabved to amend their response to one of the
plaintiffs’ requests for admissiong.recommend that the courtagt the defendants’ motions for

summary judgment, and dismigg motion to amend as moot.

! This public version has been redacted, in accordance with my order dated July 30, 2009 (Docket Naro8)t to

the identity of a confidential informant, whose identity is not material to the resolution of the motions for summary
judgment. The redacted passage has been removed from page 28.

2 The amendment corrects the misspelling of a word in the first paragraph of this recommended decisio

® Two named defendants, Martin Magnusson and Lewis Randall, have been dismissed from this action by
stipulation. Docket No. 21.
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. Summary Judgment Standards
A. Federal Ruleof Civil Procedure 56

Summary judgment is appropriate only if tieeord shows “that there is no genuine issue
as to any material fact and that the moving pargntitled to judgment aes matter of law.” Fed.

R. Civ. P. 56(c)Santoni v. Potter369 F.3d 594, 598 (1st Cir. 2004)A dispute is genuine if
the evidence about the fact is such that a reatonaly could resolve the point in the favor of
the non-moving party.”"Rodriguez-Rivera v. Federico Trilla Reg’'l Hosp. of Carolibd82 F.3d
28, 30 (1st Cir. 2008) (quotinhompson v. Coca-Cola C&22 F.3d 168, 175 (1st Cir. 2008)).
“A fact is material if it has the potentialf determining the outcome of the litigation.Id.
(quotingMaymi v. P.R. Ports Auth515 F.3d 20, 25 (1st Cir. 2008)).

The party moving for summary judgment must demonstrate an absence of evidence to
support the nonmoving party’s cas€elotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 325 (1986). In
determining whether this burden is met, the court must view the record in the light most
favorable to the nonmoving party and give thatythe benefit of all reasonable inferences in
its favor. Santoni,369 F.3d at 598. Once the moving partg heade a preliminary showing that
no genuine issue of material fact exists, the norant must “produce specific facts, in suitable
evidentiary form, to establish the presence of a trialworthy issd&iangle Trading Co. v.
Robroy Indus., In¢.200 F.3d 1, 2 (1st Cir. 1999) (citat and internal punctuation omitted);
Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(e). “As to any essential datelement of its claim on which the nonmovant
would bear the burden of proof @ial, its failure to come forward with sufficient evidence to
generate a trialworthy issue warrastsnmary judgment tthe moving party.”In re Spigel 260

F.3d 27, 31 (1st Cir. 2001) (citation and internal punctuation omitted).



B. Local Rule 56

The evidence that the court may considedeciding whether genuine issues of material
fact exist for purposes of summary judgment iswnscribed by the local rules of this district.
SeeLoc. R. 56. The moving party musitst file a statement of maial facts that it claims are
not in dispute. SeeLoc. R. 56(b). Each fact must lset forth in a numbered paragraph and
supported by a specific record citatiorBee id The nonmoving party must then submit a
responsive “separate, short, and concise” stateofematerial facts in which it must “admit,
deny or qualify the facts by reference to eamimbered paragraph of the moving party’s
statement of material facts[.]” Loc. R. 56(cfhe nonmovant likewise must support each denial
or qualification with an ppropriate recal citation. See id The nonmoving party may also
submit its own additional statement of material facts that it contends are not in dispute, each
supported by a specific record citatidBee id The movant then must respond to the nonmoving
party’s statement of additional facts, if any, \Wway of a reply statement of material facts in
which it must “admit, deny or qualify suchdditional facts by refence to the numbered
paragraphs” of the nonmovant's statemenEee Loc. R. 56(d). Again, each denial or
gualification must be supported by appropriate record citatiorSee id

Failure to comply with Local Rule 56 camsult in serious ansequences. “Facts
contained in a supportiray opposing statement of material fadaf supported byecord citations
as required by this rule, shall be deemed admiitédss properly controverted.” Loc. R. 56(f).
In addition, “[tjhe court may disgard any statement of fact not supported by a specific citation
to record material properlyoasidered on summary judgment’dahas “no independent duty to
search or consider any part of the record sypcifically referenced in the parties’ separate

statement of fact.ld.; see also, e.g., Sanchez-Figueroa v. Banco Popular de32RF.3d 209,



213-14 (1st Cir. 2008).
II. Factual Background

The following undisputed materiédcts are properly presentedthe parties’ respective
statements of material factstsnitted pursuant to Local Rule 56.

The plaintiffs, James Mclnnis, Dee Mdls (formerly Chaet), and Toni Chaet, are
residents of East Parsonsfield, Maine. Stat@nof Material Facts by Defendants State of
Maine, Michael Cantara, Roy McKinney, Williameetjen, Stephen Borst, Craig Anderson,
Philip Alexander and Scott Rocloef (“Maine SMF”) (Docket No34) | 1; Opposing [Statement
of Material Facts] to Defendants State M&ine, Michael Cantara, Roy McKinney, William
Deetjen, Stephen Borst, CgaAnderson, Philip Alexander arfsicott Rochefort Statement of
Material Facts (“Maine Opposing SMF”) (DockebN62) 1 1. At all relevant times, defendants
William Deetjen, Stephen Borst, Craig Andersand Scott Rochefort were agents assigned to
the Maine Drug Enforcement Agency (MDEA)d. § 2. Defendant Philip Alexander was a
Maine state trooper.ld. § 3. Defendant Michael Cama was commissioner of the Maine
Department of Public Safetyld. § 4. Defendant Roy McKinney was the director of the Maine
Drug Enforcement Agencyld. 1 5.

James Mclinnis has an extensive criminalord, including violations of supervised
release.ld. 1 7-13. One of these violations ocedrivhen he tested positive for cocaiik,

1 14, and another when he was found to mssswer one pound of margna with intent to
distribute it,id. 7 16-18.

On January 5, 2007, Deetjen received a telephaall from defendant Hatch, who told

Deetjen that Mclnnis and his son Jaambre suspects in a “marijuana ripoffid. f 20-21.

Hatch also told Deetjen that Probation Offiégandall had told him that Mclnnis and his son



Jacob were on probationd. I 22. Deetjen knewthat McInnis’s supervid release on federal
charges had previously been revoked. § 23. Hatch gave Deetjen the name of the victim of
the “rip-off,” told him that approximately 28ounds of marijuana worth $25,000 had been taken,
told him that MclInnis was staying with his ¢irénd, Dee Chaet, at aaddress on North Road,
East Parsonsfield, and that hislpation officer was Lew Randalld. 1 24-25.

Deetjen then called Randall at his offickl. § 26 Randall told Deetjen that McInnis
was on probation and had not reported to Randafbfarto six weeks and that the conditions of
his probation included randosearches and seizurekl. 1 28-29. Randall authorized Deetjen
to search Mclnnis’s residence, detain him for a probation vialions, and to transport him to
the York County jail. Id. § 31. As of that date, Deetjad worked with Randall for 30 years
and had no reason to question the accuracyeoimformation that Randall had given hind.

1 32. Randall has since dietll.  35. It is a comon practice for law enforcement officers to
execute probation holds in respotseequests by probation officerkd. § 36.

An entry dated August 24, 2006, in Randall’s JaMeBnis file statesin relevant part:
08/24/2006  12:08/... @ CONTAC MODE: Phone/PERSON
CONTACTED: Client/DETAILS: Heardrom subject, recently out of
Federal Custody . . .Subject claims that the State s&uwld run cc and
would go away with Fed séence. The Fed sentendid run cc with the
State however the probatidor the State lasted langer period of time.

Has fines and counselling [sic] requirements on this probation. He was
told to report and bring any documentatito us and as far as our records
indicate he is on probation.

Id.  37. Mclnnis recalls speakingtlv Randall by telephone on August 24, 200@. Y 38.

During that conversation, Mcinntsld Randall that his state prdlwan ran concurrent with this

* The plaintiffs respond to this and six more paragraphs of the state defendants’ statement of material facts with the
following: “Qualified. Mr. Mclnnis takes the position that conversations not recorded by kidaRdid not occur.

Mr. Mclnnis asserts that this is a legitimate inferencleetanade in his favor on a motion for summary judgment.”
Maine Opposing SMF 11 26-29, 31, 34, 72. It is ridte, e.g., CMI Capital Marké&tvestment, LLC v. Gonzélez-

Toro, 520 F.3d 58, 65-66 (1st Cir. 2008) (party opposing summary judgment not entitled to inference made
unreasonable by other uncontested material fases);alsdn. 4 infra.
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federal sentence.ld. 1 40. He remembers Randalllitgy him to report and to bring
documentation and that he was not in any troubde {{ 41-42. He never reported to Randall.
Id. § 43. He told Randall that he would havediterney “take care of it,” because he knew he
was not on probationld. 1 44. He was not sure whether &iorney ever contacted Randall and
provided him with the documentation Randall had requedted] 45.

From July 2006 to July 2007, defendant Grai Anderson was the supervisor of the
Alfred office of the MDEA. Id. § 46. He approved the praioam search of the Mclnnis
residence on January 5, 200/d. 1 47. He knew that McIinsiihad a criminal historyld. On
January 5, 2007, defendant Trooper Philip Alexander received a telephone call from the MDEA
indicating that it wanted a uormed officer present at eesidence on Route 160 in East
Parsonsfield later that dayd. § 48. He met with Anderson, Borst, Rochefort, and Deetjen at a
post office in East Parsonsfieldd. 1 49. The agents advised Alexander that they had received
information that MclInnis and Dee Chaet livex North Road, also known as Route 160, and that
Mclnnis had allegedly stolenlarge amount of marijuandd. § 50. They told him that MclInnis
was on probation, Randall wasshprobation officer and had &watized a probation hold on
Mclnnis, that Dee Chaet had an outstandingvactirrest warrant for failing to pay a fine, and
that they wanted Alexander te@mpany them to the Mcinnis rdsnt so that, if the residents
saw them approaching, they would not thin&y were about to be “ripped offld. 11 51-53.

Their plan called for Rochefort, Andersaamd Alexander to go to the front of the
Mclnnis mobile home and make contact with tesidents while the other agents secured the
perimeter. Id. § 54. If McInnis was present, theeags would executthe probation hold.Id.

55. After that, they wouldearch the residencéd. Deetjen advised Rochefort that Randall had

told him that Mclnnis’s probatin included search conditionkd. § 56.



Anderson and the agents arrived at th®dence at approximately 6:50 p.rd. § 57.
The agents wore black nylon jackets with terd “Police” in yellow on both sleeves and the
words “State Drug Agent” on the left breastl. § 58. The words “MDEA Police” were written
across the back iyellow lettering. Id.

The Mclnnis residence was a mobileme parked parallel to the roadwaid. T 59.
Alexander and Anderson knocked on the front dddr.y 60. Deetjen took a position on the left
side of the residenceld. { 61. Mclnnis answered the doand the agents told him that his
probation officer had advised them that he hmdiated the terms of his probation by failing to
report, after which one of them handcuffed Mclnnis, who did not rekist{{ 62-63. He told
the agents that h@as not on probationlid. § 64. In Borst and Alexaer’'s experience, it was
common for those arrested for violating the termthefr probation to say &t they were not on
probation. Id. 1 64-65.

One person stayed on the front porch withmvics while three agents entered the mobile
home, first looking through it to determine whether it was safe to seltcfif 66-68. Mclnnis
was on the front porch with Alexander when Deetjen entered the residehde69. Mcinnis
told Deetjen that he was not on probati but Deetjen did not believe hind. § 70. Once
inside, Deetjen called Randall at his homid.  71. Randall again toldeetjen that Mclnnis
was on probation and asked that hadden to the York County jailld. § 72. Randall said that
he would put a detainer on Mclnnidgd. One of the agents arrested plaintiff Dee Chaet (now
Mclnnis) on a warrant for annpaid traffic violation.Id. { 73. She told the agents that they had
no right to come into her home and thatIMgs was not on probation. Additional Facts
(“Plaintiffs’ Maine SMF”) (included in Main€Opposing SMF beginning at 18) § 16; Response

to Plaintiffs’ Statement of Additional Facts by fleedants State of Maine, Michael Cantara, Roy



McKinney, William Deetjen, Stephen Borst, &y Anderson, Philip Alexander, and Scott
Rochefort (“Maine Responsive 3®) (Docket No. 68) 1 16.

Deetjen went to the mastbedroom where Rochefort waalready searching. Maine
SMF 1 74; Maine Opposing SMF § 74. A bag ofijnana seeds, a glass marijuana pipe, and a
digital scale were founth Mcinnis’s bedroom. Id. 1 75. While the search was going on,
Anderson told Borst to trapsrt Mclnnis to the York CouwgtJail, and Borst did sold.  76.
Alexander transported Dee Chaethe York County Jailld. § 77.

After completing the search inside the mobile home, Rochefort inspected a shed located
behind it. Id. 8 78. He saw some skirting that was sefel from the back side of the mobile
home. Id. § 80. The skirting attracted his atien because it was no longer joined, which
suggested to him that there might be something under the mobile fehrfié81. He moved the
skirting enough to shine his flagght under thenobile home.ld. | 82°

Portions of an entry dated January 10, 2007Randall's James Mclnnis file state as
follows:

Subject was arrested for FTR last Friday by MDEA agents . . . . Spoke
with his Atty on Tuesday and was informed that he might be off
probation. Atty stated they reducéis sentence thus probation time
would have started earlier. Themust have been a mixup with both
state and federal sentences as to what was concurrent and what wasn't.
In any event, Atty supplied PPO withdocket sheet and it does show a
reduction in sentence on thdecket #. It confirmshat the state date of
probation should have been earlier tkhus case should i@ been closed

out a few months ago. It could albe interpreted that the motion to
reduce his sentence was granted inrdlaof 03 then that's when the
probation kicked in, not 260 days earlier.

Nevertheless, when he returned to the community he should have
checked in after being told to do so and this mess could have been taken

care of sooner. He was releagesin custody yesterday and will close
out the case today.

® The plaintiffs purport to deny this paragraph of the Maiefendants’ statement of material facts, but the denial
does not address this factual statement. Maine Responsive SMF { 82.
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To summarize, it looks like the &e and Defense agreed that the
probation would run cc with federabrviction as well as another state
conviction so that when he finallgnished his time with the feds his
probation time would be over as wellhe file never reflected that and
DOC never received a new J & C from the court. It should be noted as
well that a new J & C and docket record was not received].]
Id.  87. An entry in the filendicates that Randall dischargeidinnis from probation at 10:58
a.m. on January 10, 200W. { 88.

There is no evidence thBieetjen, Borst, Anderson, Rocbetf and Alexander received
instructions from defendants bhael Cantara or Roy McKinneyipr to appearing at Mclnnis’s
resident on January 5, 2007d. § 89. There is no evidence that Deetjen, Borst, Anderson,
Rochefort, or Alexander had reputations for coticigcillegal arrests in alation of the Fourth
Amendment prior to appearing at Mais’s residence on that datil.  90. The plaintiffs have
adduced no evidence of a causal connection betteervents that ocoed at the Mcinnis
residence on January 5, 200idahe conduct or inaction oftleer Cantara or McKinney d.

1 91.

Maine State Probation had failed accuratelinterpret the length of probation in at least
one other case by January 5, 2007. PlaintNfaine SMF { 9; Maine Responsive SMF 1 9.
Randall did not issue any kind of holdttee York County Jail on January 5-8, 200d.  23.

Defendant Kenneth Hatch, Ill, has beera& enforcement officer with the Lincoln
County Sheriff's Office since June 1999. Dmdants York County, Maurice Ouellette, and
Kenneth Hatch’s Statement of Material Fa¢tSounty SMF”) (Docket No. 43) { 1; Opposing
Statements of Material Facts Byaintiffs James Mclnnis Sr., Dee Mclnnis, and Toni Chaet to

Defendants York County, Maurice Ouellette, afehneth Hatch’'s Statement of Material Facts

(“County Opposing SMF”) (Docket No. 58) T 10n January 5, 2007, k4 was a detective



sergeant.ld. § 2. Neither Hatch nor Lincoln County received notice of any claim against Hatch
until the complaint in this action was served in 2008. { 3. Hatch is Mclnnis’s half brother.
Id. 1 4.

On January 5, 2007, a confidential informant contacted Hatch while he was on duty and
told him that Mclnnis and hison Jacob were planning a bagl or robbery in the Lincoln
County area, and that Mclnnis had previouslyestaharijuana from another person in southern
Maine. Id. 11 5, 8. He said that this marij@awas currently at Mcinnis’s residende. { 5. He
also told Hatch that McInnis was on probatiand that Randall was his probation officéd.

17.

When Hatch received this information he did not have an reason to doubt its accuracy.
Id. § 11. He was aware that thenfidential informant and Mahis had been close for many
years. Id.  12. This confidential informant had prowiderior information four or five times.

Id. 1 13. Hatch does not recall any of this information being inaccuratey 14. Hatch
believed that the information from the confidential informant was consistent with other
information he knew about Mclnnis, includingpaor drug conviction an®icinnis’s addition to
drugs. Id. § 16.

After receiving the information from hisonfidential informant, Hatch, while on duty,
contacted Randall to inform him of what ted learned, including that Mclnnis was in

possession of drugs and wasrgpto commit another crimdd. §17° Randall told Hatch that

® The plaintiff purports to qualify this paragraph of theitty defendants’ statement ofaterial facts, as follows:

“While it is true that Mr. Hatch téified that he called Mr. Randall after receiving the infation, Mr. Randall

makes no reference to any conversations with law enfordaa@mbis records. To the extent that Mr. Randall did not
make note of any specific telephone calls[,] Mr. Mcinnis takes the position that those calls did not occur and at
summary judgment it is legitimate inference from Mr. Randall's recerthat the conversations did not take place.”
County Opposing SMF 1 17. In the absence of moresae&— for example, that Randall customarily made note of

all telephone conversations had during a work day —ribisa reasonable inference that the conversation did not
take place, and the plaintiff may not rely on it. The sanmiésof the same “qualifications” made to paragraphs 18
and 23. Furthermore, an assertion that a defendant’s)gestimony could be false is based only on speculation,

10



Mclnnis was on probation and hadt been in to reportld. { 18. He told Hatch that he was
going to put a hold on Mclnsj and that he would discuss it with Deetjéd. Hatch, while on
duty, called Deetjen to pass along the infarorahe had received about Mcinnikl. § 20. He
contacted Deetjen because hewnDeetjen was a drug agentsouthern Maine, and he had
received information that drugs had been statesouthern Maine and we at the residence of
Mclnnis in southern Maine.ld. | 21.

Immediately after speaking with HatcBeetjen called Randall who told him that
Mclnnis was on probation, had nopoeted in 4-6 weeks, and wasabject to random searches
and seizures based on conditions of probatldnf 23. Deetjen got permission from Randall to
detain Mclnnis and transport him to the York County Jail for failure to report to probdtion.
Mclnnis does not claim that Hatch knew théommation was false whehe passed it on to
Randall and Deetjend. Y 24.

Hatch was not present on January 5, 200&nMicinnis was arsded on a probation
violation. Id. T 26. He treated the information he reed about Mclnnis ake would any other
criminal because he believed it would violated the oath he took as a law enforcement officer to
withhold this information.ld. § 28!

Defendant Borst transported Mcinnis ttee York County Jail on January 5, 2007, a
Friday night. Id. 19 32-33. Borst filled out a Prisoner Safekeeping Record in the holding area of
the jail which stated that Probati and Parole authorized a holdl. § 34. He also filled out a

summons for a probaitn violation. Id. I 35. He told the officerat the jail that Mclnnis was

which must be ignored in a court’s consideration of a motion for summary judgment, even when it is proffered by
the non-moving partyMeuser v. Federal Express Corp64 F.3d 507, 515 (1st Cir. 2009).

" The plaintiffs purport to deny this paragraph of the county defendants’ statement of material facts, sis‘ktlow
Mclnnis believes that [M]r. Hatch did not do what was required of him as a police officer."tyGdpposing SMF

1 28. This statement of belief does not constitute a denial of the factual statement in paragraph 28 of the county
defendants’ statement of material facts.

11



there on a probation holdid. § 36. Mclnnis was held atehail until January 9 or 10, 2007,
after his attorney spoke to Rafidesho approved his releaséd. § 378

Defendant Ouellette has been shafiflYork County sice January 1, 2007d. § 38. He
is the final decision-maker at the York County Jad. § 39. From January 1999 to December
30, 2006, Ouellette was the chief deputyhef York County Sheriff's Officeld. { 40. Ouellette
never knew of or perceived a problem with any pe#ic customs, or practices at the jail with
regard to the admission of inmates who are bnbér@m other agencies on a probation hdid.

9 42. He is not aware of any problems or comgdan that area otheéhan this lawsuit.ld.

York County is a hamed member of tdaine County Commissioners Association Self-
Funded Risk Management Poopuablic self-funded poatstablished pursuant to 30-A M.R.S.A.
ch. 117. I1d. | 43-44. Insurance-type coveragepisvided pursuant to the Maine County
Commissioners Association Self-Funded Risknisigement Pool Coverage Document, which
specifically excludes coverage for any actioekseg tort damages from which the county is
immune under the Maine Tort Claims Actdalimits coverage to those areas for which
government immunity is expressly waived by the Adtd. Y 44-45. York County has not
procured any other liability insurance covering ataim against the county or its employees for
which immunity has not otherwise been waivéd. | 46.

[11. Discussion
A. The State Defendants
1. Count | (Defendants Deetjen, Borshderson, Alexander, and Rochefort)
Count | of the amended complaint allegender 42 U.S.C. § 1983 that the “defendant

officers” deprived Mclnnis of hisight not to be arrested ingrabsence of reasonable suspicion

8 The plaintiffs deny this paragraph of the county defendants’ statement of material facts, but theypatdy dis
whether the release took place on January 9 or January 10. County Opposing SMF { 37.

12



to detain him, probable cause to arrest him,a warrant authorizing his arrest. Amended
Complaint (Docket No. 7) § 47.

The state defendants first argue that Mclnnis’s failure to respond to Randall’s request that
he report and bring in the pap®rk that supported his conten that he was no longer on
probation was the legal cause of his arrestiacarceration. Motion foSSummary Judgment by
Defendants State of Maine, Michael Cant&ay McKinney, William Deetjen, Stephen Borst,
Craig Anderson, Philip Alexander, and Scott Refont (“Maine Motion”) (Docket No. 33) at 6 .
The plaintiffs do not respond to this argument.

The court must nonetheless consider the merits of this argurdaited States v. IMG
Excavating & Constr. Co.No. 03-134-P-S, 2004 WL 1592134 (Me. July 16, 2004), at *3.
The cases cited by the state defenslamtsupport of their positioWvagenmann v. Adam829
F.2d 196, 212-13 (1st Cir. 1987), aRddriguez-Cirilo v. Garciall5 F.3d 50, (1st Cir. 1997),
Maine Motion at 6, which deal with the contemf superseding inpendent causation and
remoteness precluding proximate causation, areidgtdistinguishableThere is no sense in
which Mclnnis’s alleged failure to report cdme characterized as a superseding or an
independent cause, nor was Randall’'s concludramwn from that alleged failure unduly remote
from the time he asked Mcinnis to report. e8b cases do not persuade me that Mclnnis’'s
admitted failure to report to Randall or to assure that his lawyer provided Randall with the
requested paperwork about his probationnditey alone, necessarily absolves the state
defendants from any legal responsibility for Mclnnis’s particular claims.

The state defendants’ other argument witspect to Count | is based on qualified
immunity. Maine Motion at 6-12. Qualified immunity “provides a safe harbor for public

officials acting under the color of state lamho would otherwise be liable under 42 U.S.C.
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§ 1983 for infringing the constitutiohaghts of private parties.’'Borges Coloén v. Roméan-Abreu
438 F.3d 1, 18 (1st Cir. 2006) (quotiNghitfield v. Melendez-Rivera31 F.3d 1, 6 (1st Cir.
2005)). The defendants’ bid for qualified immunityithv respect to the plaintiffs’ false arrest
claim sets in motion what the Firstr@uit has dubbed “a trifurcated inquiry”:

We ask, first, whether the plaintiff hadleged the violatiorof a constitutional

right. If so, we then ask whether thentours of the right were sufficiently

established at the time of the allegedlation. Finally, we ask whether an

objectively reasonable offiai would have believed that the action taken or
omitted violated that right.
Acevedo-Garcia v. Monrojg351 F.3d 547, 563-64 (1st Cir. 2003) (citation and internal
guotation marks omitted).

Qualified immunity is an affirmative defemsagainst damages liability which may be
raised by state officials sued in their personal capa8ige Gomez v. Toledd6 U.S. 635, 639-
40 (1980). The general rule gtialified immunity, set out itdarlow v. Fitzgerald 457 U.S.
800, 818 (1982), is that “government officials penfing discretionary functions generally are
shielded from liability for oril damages insofar as theiomduct does not violated clearly
established statutory or constitinal rights of which a reasable person would have known.”
This rule eliminates from consideration claimstiod officials’ subjectivestate of mind, such as
bad faith or malicious intention, concentratingtba “objective reasonables&’ of the official’s
conduct. “On summary judgment on qualified iommty, the threshold question is whether all
the uncontested facts and any contested facts looked at in plaintiff's favor show a constitutional
violation.” Buchanan v. Maine469 F.3d 158, 168 (1st Cir. 2006).

Here, Mcinnis alleges a violation of hourth Amendment right to be free from

unreasonable seizures of his person. The ukimaestion for determining whether his arrest

violated the Fourth Amendment is whether theees probable cause toliewe that the he had

14



violated the terms of his probatidnSee Willette v. City of Watervill&16 F.Supp.2d 139, 146
(D. Me. 2007). “Probable caussxists ‘when the arrestingfficer, acting upon apparently
trustworthy information, reasonably concludesttta crime has beefor is about to be)
committed and the putative arrestee is jikiel be one of the perpetrators.ltl. (quotingCox v.
Hainey, 391 F.3d 25, 31 (1st Cir. 2004)). In other words, “[p]Jrobable cause to arrest exists
where the facts and circumstances within gbéce officer's knowledge and of which she had
reasonably trustworthy information were sufficient to warrant a prudent person in believing that
the arrestee had committed or was committing an offenS&éehy v. Town of Plymouth91
F.3d 15, 19 (1st Cir. 1999), abrogated on other grodelgenpect v. Alford543 U.S. 146
(2004). The qualified immunity ingui in this case is whetherpaudent police officer with the
information known to the defendant officers corddsonably have believed that he had probable
cause to arrest Mclnnis for violation of thents of his probation. The court must assess the
information available to #hofficers at the time withouhdulging in hindsight.Barber v. Guay
910 F. Supp. 790, 800 (D. Me. 1995).

The plaintiffs’ assertion that this court “ntudecide if there was probable cause to arrest
Mr. Mclnnis and search his home before theu can consider the officer[s’] reasonable
belief,” Opposition by Plaintiffs James Mclnnis.SDee Mclnnis, and Toni Chaet to State of
Maine Defendants William Deetjen, Stephen Borst, Craig Anders[o]n, Philip Alexander, Scott
Rochefort, and Kenneth Hatch Motion for Summary Judgfdt®tate Opposition”) (Docket

No. 61) at [6], is no longer correct. Maldonado v. Fontane$68 F.3d 263 (1st Cir. 2009), the

° It is not clear from the summary jutgnt record which defendant officer aaily arrested Mclnnis. | therefore
treat all of the state officer defendaatsif each of them had done so.

10 The state defendants’ motion is also brought by individual defendants Cantara and McKinttey deféndant
State of Maine. Because the countéguired to consider the merits ofrmtion for summary judgment to which no
opposition is filed,Lopez v. Corporacién Azucarera de PueRo, 938 F.2d 1510, 1517 (1st Cir. 1991), | will
consider the merits of each claim as itlisged against these three defendants as well.
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First Circuit held that, undeéPearson v. Callahan, U.S. |, 129 S.Ct. 808 (2009), “it is not
mandatory that courts follow the two-step analgsiguentially. Courts have discretion to decide
whether, on the facts of a particular casas itvorthwhile to addresfirst whether the facts
alleged make out a violation of a constitutionght.” 568 F.3d at 270. | choose to proceed
directly to the “reasonable belief” portion of thecend step of the manddtanalysis of the state
defendants’ qualified immunity dla, as that is dispositive.

The plaintiffs contend #t the state defendantsdraduct was unreasonable because no
warrant had issued for Mcinnis’s arrest, Malag requires that prolian officers obtain a
warrant for the arrest of probationers who tailreport and cannot decated, Mcinnis told
Randall more than once that Mcinnis was notpoobation, and the state defendants waited at
least four months after Mclnng informed Randall before asteng him. State Opposition at
[13].

First, no warrant is required to arrest a ptmeer for violation of the terms of his or her
probation. 17-A M.R.S.A. § 1205(1). Second, the plaintiffs have not submitted any evidence
that would allow the drawing c reasonable inference to the effect that Mclnnis could not be
located. Their statement of matdriacts asserts only that Randaid not file a notice that he
could not locate Mr[.] MclInnis.” Plaintiffs’ Maine SMF q 8. In fact, the state defendants
involved in the arrest knew whekécinnis was, and told Randall beéohe authorized the arrest.
Maine SMF |1 25, 27; Plaintiffs’ ResponsiMaine SMF {1 25, 27. There was no need for

Randall to seek an arrest wartainder the terms of the siéd invoked by the plaintiffs.

M The statute provides, in relevant part: “If a probation officer has probable cause to believe that @merson
probation violated a condition of that person’s probation, that officer may arrest the person or cause the person to be
arrested for the alleged violation. If the probation officer can not, with due diligence, locate the person, the officer
shall file a written notice ofhis fact with the court thgtlaced the person on probation. Upon the filing of that
written notice, the court shall issue a warrant for thesa of that person.” 17-A M.R.S.A. 8 1205(1).
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Third, there is no legal requirement that Randall take Mcinnis’s word that he was no
longer on probation. Nor have the plaintifabmitted any evidence that would allow the
drawing of a reasonable inference that Rankiadlw or should havenlown that Mclnnis was
correct. The fact that the state probation offies failed accurately toterpret the length of
probation in one other casefbiee Randall was arrested, Riaifs’ Maine SMF § 9, does not
allow the drawing of a conclus that no probation officer theréaf could reasonably presume
that the information available to him or her ceming the length of any particular probation was
correct. In addition, Deetjen kndéWat Mclnnis’s supervised relee on federal charges had been
revoked for violations and had no reason to jaeshe accuracy of the information Randall
provided to him. Maine SMF 11 23, 32aitiffs’ Responsive Maine SMF {{ 23, 32.

Fourth, the time elapsed between Mcinniststfstatement to Randall that he was not in
fact on probation and his arrest was not duearg action or inaction by anyone other than
Randall, who is not a party to this action. efd is no reason to impute his inaction to the
arresting officer or officers, anthe plaintiffs offer no authority in support of this argument.
There is no indication in theummary judgment record thtte arresting officers knew that
Mclnnis had told Randall that h@as no longer on probation, but,eevif they had, it was not
unreasonable for them to rely on Randall's agsethat Mclnnis was irfact still on probation
under the circumstances.

To the extent that the “officer defendants” against whom Count | of the amended
complaint is asserted include any of the stateei, they are entitled to summary judgment on
Count | on the showing mad&. No claim is made against the State of Maine in any of the

counts of the amended complaint, and it istiexd to summary judgment on that basis.

2 The plaintiffs also contend that Mclnnis “was held a full two days beyond when it was determined that there was
no justification to hold him[,]” and that this is an alternative basis for Count I. State Opposition at [14]. The
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2. Count Il (Defendants Cantara and McKinney)

Count Il of the amended complaint allegihat defendants Cantara and McKinney are
liable for the illegal arrest d¥icinnis because they knew diaild have known of the arresting
state officers’ “reputations for conducting illegafrest,” did not takereasonable steps to
supervise and discipline the arregt state officers or to minimize the risk of harm that they
presented to the public, and evinced deliberate, reckless, or callous indifference to the
constitutional rights of the gintiffs. Complaint 1 50-61.

The state defendants accurately point out that the plaintiffs have submitted no evidence to
support the assertion that thetst officer defendants had reptibns for conducting illegal
arrests. Maine Motion at 16. The amended dampgoes through the rigimotions in alleging
the elements of supervisory liability under secti®83, but the plaintiffproffer no evidence to
back up the necessary element #eth supervisor’'s aoh or inaction be affirmatively linked to
the constitutionally improper behavior of those sujged, such that “it could be characterized as
supervisory encouragementpntonation or acquiescence gross negligence amounting to
deliberate indifference.”Seekamp v. Michayd 09 F.3d 802, 808 (1st Cir. 1997) (citation and
internal quotation marks omitted). The plaintiff@ffer nothing other than the fact of the arrest
as the evidentiary basis for this count, Riffsi Maine SMF Y 1-31. rideed, they admit that
there is no evidence that the state officer nidéats had reputations foonducting illegal arrests
of citizens prior to January 5, 200%r of a causal connection betwdba events of that date on
North Road, East Parsonsfielahnd any conduct or inaction @antara or McKinney. Maine

SMF {1 90-91; Plaintiffs’ Maine Responsive SMF {1 90-91.

amended complaint alleges that Mclnnis “was arrested unlawfully until Wednesday January 9, 2007.” Amended
Complaint § 48. But, the claim that Mclnnis “was held a full two days beyond when it was determined that there
was no justification to hold him” cannot reasonably be metadthe allegations in the amended complaint. The state
defendants do not respond to it in their reply memorandum. As this issue has thus not been joined, it is not properly
before the court at this timé&ee generally Lynch v. Dukaki&l9 F.2d 504, 508-09 (1st Cir. 1983).

18



Defendants Cantara and McKinney are adic@ly entitled to summary judgment on
Count Il of the amended complaint.

3. Count IV (Defendants Deetjen, Borst, Anderson, Alexander, and Rocfiefort)

Count IV alleges that the “officer defendantgbdlated the constitional rights of all
three plaintiffs when they searched the HdRoad residence on January 5, 2007. Complaint
19 71-74. The state defendants contend thatgrch was supported by a reasonable suspicion,
which is all that is required for a searchtbeé residence of a probatier, and that, in the
alternative, they are entitled tpalified immunity from this claim as well. Maine Motion at 12-
15. The plaintiffs argue thahe officers were required to @b a warrant to search the
residence once Mclnnis and Dee Mclnnis wereustody. State Oppositiat [10]. But, the
only authority cited by the plaintiffs in suppat this argument merelyepeats the undisputed
legal analysis underlying the customary requiren@né search warrant. Here, the officers
reasonably believed, based upon the informationttiet had been given, that no warrant was
required because Mclnnis was on probation and walated one or more terms of that
probation, including, specifically, # Mclnnis was in possession of a large amount of stolen
marijuana. That was sufficient to justitheir search undehe Constitution. United States v.
Knights 534 U.S. 112, 121 (2001) (“Whem officer has reasonaldaspicion that a probationer
subject to a search condition is engagedriminal activity, thereis enough likelihood that
criminal conduct is occurring & an intrusion on the probatier's significantly diminished
privacy interests is reasonable.”see also United States v. Gianng@89 F.2d 571, 576 (1st

Cir. 1990) (describing reasonalslespicion in this context).

13 Count Il was asserted only against defendant Magnuasainst whom all claims have been dismissed. Docket
No. 21.
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Even if this were not the case, the stafficer defendants are entitled to qualified
immunity on this claim for the same reasonshase discussed in connection with the unlawful
arrest claim presented in Count I. Nioore v. Vega371 F.3d 110 (2d Cir. 2004), the defendant
state officers searched the plaintiff's residebesed on mistaken information received from a
customarily reliable federal law enforcemenengy that an abscond@a@rolee was residing at
her house.ld. at 112, 117. The Second Circuit held thatas not plainly incompetent for the
officers to rely on this information as the basisdavarrantless search of the residence, entitling
them to qualified immunity.ld. at 115, 117. That opiom is persuasive autrity for the factual
situation present here.

Any state defendants against whom Count i$Vasserted are entitled to summary
judgment on that courit.

4. CountV (Defendant McKinney)

Count V of the amended complaint allegleat defendant McKinnebears supervisory
liability for the ilegal search conducted byetistate officer defendant€Complaint Y 75-82. It
makes essentially the same substantive claiatsatere made against McKinney in Count Il, and
fails for the same reasons. For the reasonsusksc with respect tihat count, McKinney is
entitled to summary judgment this count as well.

5. Count VI (Defendants Deetjen, Borst, Anderson, Alexander, and Rochefort)

Count VI of the amended complaint aglés that the state officer defendamiser alia,

committed the common law tort of false arrest against Mclnnis. Complaint f 83-87. The state

14 Count IV asserts claims on behalf of plaintiffs Dee Mclnnis and Toni Chaet as well as James Mclnnis Sr., yet
neither woman’s claims are mentioned in either side’s discussion of this count. The opiklioaré an action
brought by a resident of the premises searched, othethtbgrarolee, on whose preseninpresence the search was
based, makes clear that such claims do not survive adjirndireasonable reli@e on mistaken formation like that

which | have found here.
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officer defendants contend that this claim agatinsin is barred by the Maine Tort Claims Act.
Maine Motion at 15-16. The plaintift$o not respond to this argument.

The Maine Tort Claims Act provides that “ployees of governmentantities shall be
absolutely immune from personal civil liabilifgr . . . [p]erforming orfailing to perform any
discretionary function or dutywhether or not the discretiois abused[.]” 14 M.R.S.A.
8§ 8111(1)(C). A law enforcement officer’s actionairresting or seizing an individual from his
residence is a discretionary function to which this absolute immunity apdess. e.g., McLain
v. Milligan, 847 F. Supp. 970, 977 (D. Me. 1994) (eimgrplaintiffs home, executing
warrantless arrest, and filing clyas against plaintiff required escise of judgment and hence
discretionary functions entitled to absolute immuni§jeamer v. Sceviou652 A.2d 110, 115
(Me. 1995) (warrantless arrest discretionfanyction entitled to statutory immunity).

From all that appears in this summamnglgment record, the statéficer defendants are
entitled to summarydgment on Count VA

B. The County Defendants
1. Count | (Defendants Ouellette and York County)

Count I, alleging an illegal arrest under 42 U.S.C. § 1983, names York County and
defendant Ouellette in its caption, but makesspecific allegations against them. Complaint
11 46-49. From all that appearsttie record, Ouellette was not ditly involved in the arrest of
Mclnnis, nor were any employees of Yofkounty. As the county defendants point out,
Defendants York County, Maurice Oueletind Kenneth Hatch’'s Motion for Summary

Judgment (“York Motion”) (DockelNo. 42) at 4, a county can kiable under section 1983 only

15 The state defendants argue that punitive damages, sought by the plaintiffs in all counts alleged against them, are
not available under the circumstances of this caskaine Motion at 18. Because | recommend the entry of
summary judgment in favor of the state defendants on allte@saserted against them, | do not reach this issue. |

do note, however, that, contrary to the demand repeated in Count VI of the amended complaint, punitive damages
“pursuant to 42 U.S.C. § 1983,” Complaattl2, are not available in any event astate-lawclaim.
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if the alleged constitutional violation results fr@an unconstitutional policy, custom, or practice.
Monell v. Dep’t of Soc. Sery436 U.S. 658, 690-91 (1978).

The plaintiffs’ opposition spends considdealime discussing thqualified immunity
defense, Opposition by Plaintiffs James Mus Sr., Dee Mclnnis, and Toni Chaet to
Defendants York County, Maurice Ouellette, and Kenneth Hatch’'s Motion for Summary
Judgment (*York Opposition”) (Docket No. 59) at 6-1ieir only response to this section of the
county defendants’ motion, but that defense isasserted by the county or by Ouellette. None
of the facts proffered by the plaiifis with respect to this motiocan reasonably baterpreted to
refer in any way to a policy, custom, or practicexofk County, with one exception. Paragraph
21 of the plaintiffs’ own stateménf material facts provides:

Agent Borst went on to explain théte York CountyJail will accept a
uniform summons and complaintptace of an actual probation hold.

Additional Facts (“Plaintiffs’County SMF”) (included in Gunty Opposing SMF beginning at
15) 1 21.

The county defendants have madwue strike this paragraph tie plaintiffs’ statement of
material facts. Defendants York Countylaurice Ouellette and Kenneth Hatch’'s Reply
Statement of Material Facts and Request tk&ifiCounty Reply SMF”) (Dcket No. 65) at 5.
They assert that the record reference mlediin this paragraph does not supporidt. | agree.
The plaintiffs cite page 36 of defendant Borsteposition as the only sourte this paragraph.
Plaintiffs’ County SMF  21. That page provid@s,its entirety, along with a question that
appears on page 35:

Q. Okay. Explain that. Is th#te policy that the jail requires you to
produce a summons?

A. It's been my experience they éiko have something in their hand
when you drop a prisoner off besa,) in addition to having the

22



summons, they should also be getting a probation hold sent to them from
the probation officer, which most oftentimes seems to be after hours.

So the person may have — the ptabaofficer has to get to a fax and
— or call the State Police BarradksGray and have them send it.

Q. So there is a form that is created when someone is on — placing a
probation hold on someone?

A. When a probation officer is plaxg the hold on them, yes, there is a
mechanism for them to — to notifyehail that so and so is there on a
hold.

Q. Okay. Are you aware or Y you — or do you personally know
about any other document that evides a hold other than the summons
you created?

Yes.

Where is that document?

In my case file.

Where is your case file?

Here’s a copy of it.

Can | see that document, please.

> 0 » © » O »

(Witness complying.)
Deposition of Stephen Borst (Docket No. 37) at 35-36.

Borst does not say here that the Yoru@ty Jail “will accept a uniform summons and
complaint in place of aactual probation hold.”Plaintiffs’ County SMF § 21. In addition, the
record establishes that Borst was at the reletime “an MDEA agentovering York County.”
County SMF { 32; Plaintiffs’ Responsive County EM 32. There is nadication that he was
employed by York County, was autimad to testify abauthe policies of York County, or even

had any knowledge about the policies of York County.
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The testimony on the cited page estdi@ds only that York County jail personnel
“like[d]” to have some document, apparently siraywvhy the individual being “dropped off” is
being jailed. That is far from evidence thla¢ county had a policy of accepting a summons in
lieu of a written probation hold. Even if that were the policy, however, it would have played no
role in Mclnnis’s arrest. As previously notedMtcinnis wishes now to claim that he was kept
in jail in violation of his constitutional rightstaf he was arrested, heshaot alleged that claim
in the amended complaint, and that issue is not before the court.

The plaintiffs say nothingbe®ut any basis for Ouellette’s ligity on Count I, and none is
readily apparent from the summary judgment record.

York County and Ouellette are ergill to summary judgment on Count I.

2. Count VI (Defendants York County and Ouellette)

Count VI alleges that Ouellette and the cgurimmitted the tort of false arrest against
Mclnnis. Specifically, it asserts that unidentfianembers of the YorkCounty sheriff's office[]
intended to confine Mr. Mclnnis at the York Coydtil without authority to do so.” Complaint
1 84. The county defendants contend that both Canlinty and Ouellette are immune from this
claim under the terms of the Maine Tort Claimg.A¢ork Motion at 6-9.The plaintiffs respond
that qualified immunity is not ailable to these defendants,Kdpposition at 17-21, a defense
that the county defendants have not asserted. dbvept address at alldlstatutory defense that
the county defendantaveraised.

Under the Maine Tort Claims Act, Ouelletie entitled to absolute immunity as an
employee of a governmental entftyffor “[p]erforming or failingto perform any discretionary

function or duty, whether or ndhe discretion is abused[.]” 14 M.R.S.A. § 8111(1)(C). A

6 A county is included within the Maine Tort Claims Act's definition of a governmental entity. 14 M.R.S.A. §
8102(2) & (3).
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decision to confine an individua the York Countyjail is certainly “reasonably encompassed
by the duties of the governmehtamployee in question[.]’ld. § 8111(1). To the extent that
paragraph 84 of the amended complaint may reasonably be construed to be asserted against
Ouellette, it alleges only abuse of the discretmuecide who will be imprisoned and who will
not. In addition, the plaintiffs have failed tooffer any factual support for the necessary basis of
any argument that Ouellette wad eatitled to statutory immunjit such as his knowledge of the
fact that Mclnnis had been jailelet alone knowledgéat he or any aunty employee lacked
authority to do so. Plaintiffs’ County SMF |1 1-33.

To the extent that any claim is asserted against York County in Codhiit\i$, entitled
to immunity for a different reason. Generallycounty, as a governmental entity, is immune
from suit “on any and all tort claims seekingaeery of damages.” 14 M.R.S.A. § 8103(1).
None of the exceptions to this immunity recitedhe act is applicable here. Those exceptions
are tort claims arising out of:

1. ownership, maintenance, or use of glgs, machinery, and equipment, 14 M.R.S.A.
§ 8104-A(1);

2. negligent construction, operation, orimb@nance of any publibuilding, 14 M.R.S.A.
§ 8104-A(2);

3. discharge of pollutants, 14 M.R.S.A. § 8104-A(3);

4. road construction, street cleaniagrepair, 14 M.R.S.A. § 8104-A(4); and

5. areas in which the governmental entityuld otherwise be immune but for which it

has obtained liability insurance coverage, 14 M.R.S.A. § 8116.

Y This count of the amended complaint fails to allege any basis for liability on the part of the county, and it is
therefore entitled to summary judgment@ount VI for that reason as well.
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In this case, the plaintifido not dispute that éliability insurance that the county has
obtained through the Maine County Commissiorfgsociation Self-Funded Risk Management
Pool specifically excludes coverage for any caafsaction seeking tort damages for which the
county is otherwise immune under the MainetT@aims Act. County SMF |1 43-46; County
Opposing SMF 11 43-46. Accordingly, 8en 8116 does not apply to this case.

The allegations of the amended complaintncimeasonably be construed to fit within
any of the four exceptions spied in section 8104-A. Accondgly, the county is entitled to
summary judgment on Count VI of the amended complaint.

3. Counts VIl and VIl (Defendant Hatch)

Count VII of the amended complaint allegéhat defendant Hatch committed the state-
law tort of malicious prosecution against Main Count VIl allege that Hatch defamed
Mclnnis. At all relevant times, Hatch was employed by the Lincoln County Sheriff's Office and
was acting in that capacity. County SMF 1-2, 5, 7-10, 17, 20-22; County Opposing SMF
11 1-2, 5, 7-10, 1¥ 20-22.

The county defendants contendittthe state-law tort clainasserted against Hatch must
fail because Mclnnis failed to comply with thetioe provisions of the Maine Tort Claims Act.
York Motion at 10-11. It izindisputed that the notice recqedrby 14 M.R.S.A. 8 8107 was not

served by the plaintiffs. County SMF { 3; Coupposing SMF § 3. Ordinarily, a failure to

'8 The plaintiffs purport to qualify their response to this paragraph of the county defrsfarement of material

facts as follows: “While it is trughat Mr. [H]atch testified that healled Mr. Randall after receiving the
information, Mr. Randall makes no reference to any conversations with law enforcement in his records. To the
extent that Mr. Randall did not make note of any specific telephone calls[,] Mr. Mclnnis takes tioa ploat those

calls did not occur and at summary judgment it is gitifeate inference from Mr. Randall’s records that the
conversations did not take place.” bty Opposing SMHA] 17. The county defendants have asked the court to
strike this response. County Reply SMF at 1. For the reasons previously discussed in connection witkiftae plai
identical “qualification” of certain paragraphs thie state defendants’ statement of material fagsfns. 2 & 4,

supra the inference the plaintiffs claim ot “legitimate” or available. The request to strike is granted.
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comply with this requirement bars a subsequent cla@ushman v. Tilton652 A.2d 650, 651
(Me. 1995).

The plaintiffs argue that Hatch was not agtwithin the scope of his employment at the
relevant time or times, thus excusing theonfrthe notice requirement, although they do not cite
any authority for the latter proposition. Yofpposition at 10-11, 14-15. The legal basis for
this argument is set out Warren v. Nolan526 A.2d 1134, 1135 (Me. 1988) (and cases therein
cited), which supports the plaintiffposition as to the legal standard.

The same is not true of the plaintiffs’ atteegb application of this standard to the facts
properly before this court, however. Hatchswacting within the scope of his employment by
Lincoln County if he was “acting on behalf ofhavernmental entity in any official capacity” at
the relevant time, 14 M.R.S.A. 8§ 8102(1), orhis challenged actions were “reasonably
encompassed by the duties” of his job, 14 M.R. § 8111(1). “An emloyee’s action falls
within the scope of employment if (a) it is oktlkind he or she is employed to perform; (b) it
occurs substantially within the authorized tiamed space limits; and (c) it is actuated, at least in
part, by a purpose teerve the master.’Rodriguez v. Town of Moose Riy@007 ME 68, 26,
922 A.2d 484, 492 (citation and internal punctuation omitted).

The plaintiffs contend that Hatch wating beyond the scope of his employment
because “he was intervening in a family disphtedid nothing to corroborate the information he
received’® and he knew that the information he reeei was not from an ordinary member of
the public[,]” County Opposition at 11; that he svattempting to “turn his family strife into
official acts,”id. at 13; Hatch “was the victim of the crime for which it was asserted that Mr.

Mclnnis was on probation, Mr. Hatde Mr. MclInnis’s brother, th source of th information

19 yet the plaintiffs also assert tHaflaine law simply does not make the investigation of probation violations part
of the duties authorized for deputy sheriffs.” York Opposition at 14.
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wassealed, Mr. Hatch did no[t] actually conduct[] anvestigation, and MrHatch only wrote a
report after it was clear thdte information was false[,Jd. at 14 (emphasis in original); Hatch’s
actions “are characterideoy family conflict[,]”id. at 15; and “Mr. Hatch was a victim of a crime
to which Mr. Mclinnis plead[ed] guilty even though Mr. Hatch denies any ill wilifl]’at 16.

It is not necessary to discuss most oéseh factual assertions because they are not
included in the plaintiffs’ proffered eveshce and thus not foee the court. Lafortune v. Fiber
Materials, Inc, No. 03-275-P-H, 2004 WL 2378861 (Me. Oct. 25, 2004), at *7 n.5All of the
information on this point that is included in the plaintiffs’ additional statement of material facts
is the following:

[REDACTED]
Plaintiffs’ County SMF |1 32-33 (citations dted). The only other fact in the summary
judgment record that could possiliiave any bearing on the factaasertions in the plaintiffs’
brief is the following provided byhe county defendants in thestatement of material facts:
“When Hatch and Mclnnis get together at famélyents they get ahbg fine and are friendly
towards each other.” County SMF 1 %9.This information does naven begin to allow the
drawing of the factual inferences necessargupport the conclusory assertions posited by the
plaintiffs. For all that appears in the summarggment record, Hatch’s actions at the relevant
time were well within the scope ofshemployment as a deputy sheriff.

Accordingly, on the showing made, Hatishentitled to summary judgment on Counts
VII and VIII of the amended complaint due to the admitted failure of the plaintiffs to serve the

notice required by the Maine Tort Claims Act.

% The plaintiffs’ purported qualification of this paragraph of the county defendants’ sttedimaterial facts,
County Opposing SMF 1 29, is not responsive, and the county defendants’ request to strike it, County Reply SMF at
6, is granted.
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V. Conclusion
For the foregoing reasons, | recommend ittt defendants’ motions for summary
judgment (Docket Nos. 33 & 42) lBRANTED. If the motions are granted, the motion to

amend (Docket No. 66) will bl OOT.

NOTICE

A party may file objections to those specifipdrtions of a magistrate judge’s report or
proposed findings or recommendel&cisions entered pursuant 8 U.S.C. § 636(b)(1)(B) for
which de novoreview by the district court is soty together with a supporting memorandum
and request for oral argument before the distrigtdge, if any is sought, within fourteen (14)
days after being served with a copy thereoA responsive memorandum and any request for
oral argument before the distrigudge shall be filed within fouteen (14) days after the filing
of the objection.

Failure to file a timely objection shihconstitute a waiver of the right tdenovoreview
by the district court and to appéthe district court’s order.

Dated this 27th day of January, 2010.

[s/_John H. Rich 1lI
John H. Rich 11l
UnitedStatesMagistrateJudge
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